Journal of Cleaner Production 257 (2020) 120507

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Cleaner Production

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jclepro



Towards product-service system oriented to circular economy: A systematic review of value proposition design approaches



Sânia da Costa Fernandes^{a, b, *}, Daniela C.A. Pigosso^b, Tim C. McAloone^b, Henrique Rozenfeld^a

^a São Carlos School of Engineering, University of São Paulo, Department of Production Engineering, Av. Trabalhador São Carlense, 400, São Carlos, 13566-590, SP, Brazil ^b Technical University of Denmark, Department of Mechanical Engineering, Akademivej Building 40, 2800, Kgs. Lyngby, Denmark

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 20 September 2019 Received in revised form 3 January 2020 Accepted 9 February 2020 Available online 11 February 2020

Handling editor Prof. Jiri Jaromir Klemeš

Keywords: Business model innovation Value proposition design Circular economy Product-service system Circular product-service system

ABSTRACT

Based on service-based value propositions, product-service systems (PSS) are commonly understood as a means to realize circular economy. However, the design of value propositions of circular product-service system is not widely investigated and understood in literature, leading to the lack of guidance for the incorporation of circularity into product-service system design. This study presents a systematic analysis of 46 approaches that can support the design of circular and/or product-service system value propositions in the context of business model innovation. The research methodology is based on a three-step systematic literature review, followed by a critical analysis grounded on content analysis procedures. The 46 approaches identified were classified according to their theoretical and practical characteristics (development level, nature of data, representation style, process type, actors' perspective, and purpose). The results point to a heterogeneity of approaches, although most are focused on the development of business models in a broader scope, with no clear boundaries on value proposition design. A critical analysis is presented in relation to the interface of the design scope of value propositions oriented to circular economy and product-service system. The paper proposes guiding principles that can support effective development of value propositions of circular product-service system at the early stages of the business modeling. A research agenda is outlined and indicates key trends oriented towards the development of an integrated and systemic approach based on a multiple stakeholder perspective, definition of design options of value propositions of circular product-service system, exploitation of perceived value, and more quantitative and empirical studies.

© 2020 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2			
2.	Literature background				
	2.1. Circular-oriented business model innovation	. 3			
	2.2. PSS value propositions for circular economy	. 3			
3.	Research methodology	3			
	3.1. Review planning and execution	. 3			
	3.2. Planning the analysis of the results	. 4			
4.	Results	4			
	4.1. Descriptive findings	.4			
	4.2. Systematic analysis of approaches	. 6			
5.	Discussion	9			
6.	Conclusion	12			

Corresponding author. E-mail address: saniafernandes@usp.br (S.C. Fernandes).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120507 0959-6526/© 2020 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Declaration of competing interest	
Acknowledgments	
Supplementary data	
Appendix	13
References	

1. Introduction

Circular economy has emerged as a new approach for ensuring the accomplishment of industrial and environmental demands towards resource efficiency and an effective value system. This approach emerges in a context in which the traditional production and consumption systems, grounded on the "take-make-dispose" resource model, have challenged the sustainability and the economic growth of companies (Bocken et al., 2016; Nuβholz, 2018). Circular economy aims to improve the current economic system by transforming linear and semi-circular flows into circular ones (Reigado et al., 2017) by slowing, closing and narrowing resources flows (Bocken et al., 2016).

The circularity of businesses can be enhanced through the implementation of product-service systems (PSS) (Lieder and Rashid, 2016; Urbinati et al., 2017; Pieroni et al., 2019a), which comprise integrated solutions of products and services in order to fulfill the customers' needs and generate value (Goedkoop et al., 1999; Boehm and Thomas, 2013). However, nor all PSS necessarily contribute to circular economy (Tukker, 2015; Kjaer et al., 2018). PSS can lead to a number of rebound effects, such as an increased consumption due to easier product access on sharing systems (e.g., car-sharing) or the sale of reused products at lower prices (McAloone and Pigosso, 2018). The development of a PSS for circular economy and its potential contributions to achieve circularity are still not explicit in the literature (Blomsma et al., 2018). In order to ensure enhanced resource efficiency, PSS should be intentionally designed for this purpose (Pigosso and Mcaloone, 2015).

The transition towards the circular economy requires innovations that range from the level of product, process, and technology to business model innovation (BMI) (Yang et al., 2018). A business model articulates the logic and defines the mechanisms and the architecture of how a business creates, delivers and captures value (Teece, 2010). In the context of circular economy, BMI comprises continuous organizational capabilities for companies to design products and services (Rozenfeld et al., 2018) in such a way as to create additional value based on the alignment with circular principles (Nu β holz, 2017) through the configuration of business model dimensions (Nu β holz, 2017; Pieroni et al., 2019a).

A central dimension that guides the BMI is the value proposition, which means that the other dimensions of a business model (such as activities, resources, partners, etc. (Barquet et al., 2013)) are oriented towards the value proposition (Laurischkat and Viertelhausen, 2017). PSS value propositions denote the value that the company may offer to customers and other stakeholders through products and services (Resta et al., 2017). In the context of circular economy, they are grounded on the circular principles and strategies (Aminoff et al., 2017; Nußholz, 2017), such as access or availability, and result and performance (Blomsma et al., 2019). One of the most important aspect to consider is how to integrate circular principles and strategies into the PSS value proposition (McAloone and Pigosso, 2018).

Despite the importance of the value proposition dimension for BMI, as it reflects how the company creates value (Nu β holz,

2017), the design of PSS value proposition is not currently widely covered in research related to circular economy (Kristensen and Remmen, 2019). Existing studies focus on environmental aspects of PSS value propositions designed considering mainly economic motivations (Matschewsky, 2019). The focus of other studies has only been on a business model level (e.g., Antikainen et al. (2017); Bocken et al. (2019)), which do not provide a deeper understanding of how PSS value propositions could be designed to reach the circular economy. As a consequence, there is a knowledge gap, from theoretical and practical perspectives, on where to start the design of circular PSS value propositions and which approach (i.e., framework, method, tool) to follow. Due to the lack of systematized knowledge on design circular PSS value propositions, there is a clear need to understand existing approaches (Pieroni et al., 2019b) that support the design of value propositions in the PSS and circular economy fields considering the BMI context. Well-ordered knowledge of approaches within both fields helps in clarifying specific aspects related to the PSS design and circular solutions design, and how they can be complemented or integrated.

This paper provides an analysis of existing BMI approaches for value proposition design for circular economy and/or PSS that are currently available in the literature and/or in use in practice. This study aims to answer the following questions: (i) what are the existing approaches for designing circular and/or PSS value propositions? (ii) how can those approaches be classified according to their theoretical and practical characteristics? (iii) which opportunities can be addressed in future research? Deepened understanding of approaches for designing PSS and circular value propositions creates a systematic view of the topic and can support in promoting the integration of approaches for synergistic advantages.

This study provides a catalogue of existing approaches that can support the design of circular and/or PSS value propositions in BMI context, a systematic analysis of the approaches and classification of data related to them based on a framework, an integrated view of guiding principles for designing circular PSS value propositions, and a description of proposals for future research. The main contribution of this paper is a holistic and comparative analysis of the approaches targeting value proposition in the fields of PSS and circular economy to provide a better understanding of their conceptual and practical features, the clarification of characteristics and best practices needed to incorporate circularity in PSS value proposition design, and the identification of opportunities to advance in this research line.

This paper is structured as follows. Section 2 presents the literature background on circular-oriented BMI and PSS value proposition for a circular economy. Section 3 describes the research methodology. Section 4 presents the results. The main findings, discussions and further research opportunities are presented in section 5. The paper ends with section 6, which presents the conclusion.

2. Literature background

2.1. Circular-oriented business model innovation

BMI embraces the ability of companies to create and deliver value to capture business results (Lange and Velamuri, 2014). This concept involves creating entirely new business models or redesigning existing business models within well-established organizations (Massa and Tucci, 2013). BMI enables a systemic perspective on business, while facilitating the structure of the systems beyond the conventional way of creating, delivering and capturing value (Mentink, 2014). It guides the coordination of organizational and technological innovations as well as the involvement of stakeholders within a value network (Zott et al., 2011).

Business models are considered as vehicles for innovation towards circular economy (Nu β holz, 2017; Planing, 2018). As synthesized by Bocken et al. (2018, p. 81), circular business models define "the rationale of how an organisation creates, delivers and captures value to close and slow material loops". The key aspect of circular-oriented BMI is to ensure that the results are restorative and regenerative through the establishment of material standards and information flows that drive circularity (EMF, 2013). Circular business models are different from traditional business models of the linear economy model, due to the intentional incorporation of strategies for slowing, closing and narrowing resource loops (Bocken et al., 2016).

In particular, the BMI towards circular economy requires fundamental changes in the value proposition (Lieder et al., 2018). Circular value propositions should be designed to guarantee longterm capacity and preserve the economic and environmental value of resources (Nu β holz, 2017) through the deliberate use and implementation of principles and strategies of circular economy (Aminoff et al., 2017; Nu β holz, 2017). Proactive management of stakeholders and their cooperation in a co-innovation process (Aminoff et al., 2017) are also relevant aspects for the design of circular value propositions. Prominent emphasis has been given to provide access to functionality based on PSS solutions to achieve the objectives of the circular economy (Tukker, 2015; Lieder et al., 2017).

2.2. PSS value propositions for circular economy

PSS is an alternative for companies to keep innovating in a market where the differentiation of products is no longer enough (Vasantha et al., 2015) and in cases where products are becoming commodities. Since Goedkoop et al. (1999) introduced the term PSS, several definitions have been proposed in literature. Although the reduction of environmental impact can be considered one of the characteristics of a PSS, not all PSS definitions refer to sustainability (Haase et al., 2017).

Based on the variations of offerings, a typology of PSS was proposed by Tukker (2004). PSS is product-oriented when it involves the traditional sale of a product, but additional services are offered to the customer to guarantee product functionality. In useoriented PSS, the provider delivers the use or availability of a product. Lastly, the PSS is result-oriented when the provider and customer mutually agree on a solution to be delivered (Tukker, 2004).

PSS is a means to realize circular economy when it leads to a reduction in resource consumption while promoting economic growth (Kjaer et al., 2018). As a PSS is not always circular (nor sustainable), there are specific approaches to evaluate the environmental sustainability of PSS, such as Kjaer et al. (2018) and Matschewsky (2019). From a life cycle perspective, Kjaer et al.

(2018) consolidated the PSS enablers of resource reduction, which are conditions under which the PSS can be truly considered as circular. They comprise the operational efficiency to minimize the resource demand during the use stage; the product longevity to keep products in use for longer, by means of after-sales service; the intensified use of product through product sharing; and product system substitutions, based on dematerialization as well as shared, reused or recycled products (Kjaer et al., 2018).

According to Pieroni et al. (2018b), different types of PSS can enable different circular strategies, which can be applied concomitantly. Yang et al. (2018) suggest that use-oriented and resultoriented PSS are more appropriate for circular business models, as there is a greater motivation by companies to extend the use of products and to apply the circular strategies. This result is also commented by Pieroni et al. (2018b), who add that result-oriented PSS solutions are less frequent in circular economy cases, but there is an opportunity to be exploited by companies.

The design of PSS value propositions is subject to uncertainties and complexity (Bocken et al., 2018) and raises new managerial challenges by the necessity of rethinking the capabilities on strategic and operational levels, the management throughout the solution life cycle, and the relationship among stakeholders (Pezzotta et al., 2014). In the context of circular economy, PSS value propositions are more dynamic in determining how value is created and, as a consequence, influence the value delivery and capture (Nu β holz, 2017). Especially, a gap remains for how to design PSS value propositions for circular economy in the BMI context, since the systematization of methodological approaches to guiding such a design is still missing.

3. Research methodology

A systematic literature review was conducted to consolidate the state-of-the-art in approaches that can support the design of circular and/or PSS value propositions in a BMI context. This review strategy follows a scientific and structured process which allows building a solid foundation and a reliable knowledge (Tranfield et al., 2003) on the available approaches. The literature review process was conducted based on three phases: (i) review planning, (ii) review execution, and (iii) result analysis (Biolchini et al., 2005).

3.1. Review planning and execution

In the first phase (planning), the search scope was defined and a review protocol was prepared (see supplementary data). The unit of analysis was defined as studies in English within the scope of BMI in the circular economy and PSS fields. The second phase (review execution) encompassed the search, collection, and selection of publications presenting one or more circular-oriented or PSS-oriented value proposition design approaches. The literature search was conducted in the Scopus database (due to the wide range of indexed papers and proven relevance in the fields of research (Falagas et al., 2008; Gaiardelli et al., 2014; Tukker, 2015)).

The search in Scopus was carried out in March 2019 and included two rounds (Table 1) using a common set of primary keywords that combined the terms related to: (i) "value proposition", and (ii) "approach" ("method", "tool", "framework", "methodology", "procedure", "technique", "canvas", and "process model"). The first search round used terms related to circular economy as supplementary search keywords (Pieroni et al., 2019b). To find out approaches related to the PSS domain, a second search round employed keywords related to the major scholarly communities in the fields of PSS and servitization, as presented in previous literature reviews (Boehm and Thomas, 2013; Annarelli et al., 2016; Rabetino et al., 2018). The search resulted in a preliminary set of

....

Iddle I		
Search parameters in	the first search	stream

Database	Scopus
Fields Search string	title, keywords, abstracts 1st search round – Circular Economy domain ("value propos*") AND ("method*" OR "tool*" OR "framework*" OR "approach*" OR "methodolog*" OR "procedure*" OR "technique*" OR "canvas" OR "process model*") AND ("circular economy" OR "circle economy" OR "circularity" OR "circle" OR "circular" OR "closed loops") 2nd search round – PSS domain ("value propos*") AND ("method*" OR "tool*" OR "framework*" OR "approach*" OR "methodolog*" OR "procedure*" OR "cercle" OR "circular" OR "closed loops") 2nd search round – PSS domain ("value propos*") AND ("method*" OR "tool*" OR "framework*" OR "approach*" OR "methodolog*" OR "procedure*" OR "technique*" OR "canvas" OR "process model*") AND ({advanced service} OR {business solution} OR {complex service system} OR {customer service} OR "custom* solutions" OR (extended product) OR {from products to services} OR {functional sales} OR "integrated product*service" OR {integrated solution} OR {service integration} OR "product*service system" OR {service design} OR {service orientation} OR {service science} OR {service strategy} OR {service transition} OR "service dominant logic" OR "service oriented" OR "serviti" OR {software as a service} OR {total solution} OR "yralue*")
Time frame Type of retrieved publications	Until February 2019 Journal papers, conference proceedings

284 papers (including journal papers, peer-reviewed conference proceedings, and book chapters).

Due to the fact that value proposition for circularity is still an emerging field (Diaz Lopez et al., 2019), only 40 publications were retrieved from the Scopus database. To complement the search, the 94 approaches related to circular-oriented BMI (which might include the value proposition dimension) listed in Pieroni et al. (2019b) were reviewed in a special stream (Table 2).

To evaluate the relevance of the identified studies, three inclusion criteria were defined. Relevant studies are therefore those that:

- (i) describe approaches addressing the value proposition design for circular economy and/or PSS (even if they were not developed specifically for this purpose);
- (ii) present a sufficient level of information (regarding the foundations and guide reasoning of the approach);
- (iii) do not present a sector-specific approach.

Based on those criteria, a three-step screening process was employed for both search streams. The first (in which the title, abstract and keywords were checked for inclusion criteria) resulted in 158 studies, which were further read in the second filter (focused on introduction and conclusion). The resulting studies (113 in total) were read in their totality, resulting in the final selection of 46 studies. Backward and forward searches (Webster and Watson, 2002) were also conducted by reviewing the citations (crossreference) to identify further relevant studies. Publications from cross-reference were subjected to the same inclusion criteria and screening process applied for the previous streams, which resulted in the addition of 6 studies to the final set. The literature review resulted in 52 publications covering 46 approaches, as different studies describe the same approach (Fig. 1).

3.2. Planning the analysis of the results

To systematize the identified approaches and enable their analysis, a classification framework (Table 3) was iteratively

 Table 2

 Search parameters in the second search stream.

Dataset	Pieroni et al. (2019b)
Time frame Type of retrieved publications	From 2007 to 2018 Journal papers, conference proceedings, book chapters, reviews, thesis, toolkits, manuals, online tools, white papers

developed by applying categorial and open coding techniques (Dresch et al., 2015). Four categories (a.-d.) were deductively developed through previous literature reviews (Schneider and Scheer, 2003; Pigosso et al., 2011; Bocken et al., 2019; Pieroni et al., 2019b), and complemented by two additional categories (e.-f.) derived from an inductive content analysis (Elo and Kyngäs, 2008).

4. Results

4.1. Descriptive findings

Out of the 52 selected studies, 26 (50% of total) were published in academic journals, 19 (36.5% of total) were retrieved from conference proceedings, and 7 (13.5% of total) from grey literature (non-peer-reviewed publications). Journal papers were published in a total of 17 different academic journals from different knowledge areas, such as sustainability, service science, innovation management, and product design. The Journal of Cleaner Production was the most recurrent, with 6 papers, most likely associated to its scope, which encompasses circular economy and PSS-related research, and with special issues in these fields. Compared to the number of journal papers, the number of conference proceedings was also significant to note, as this seems to indicate the importance of scientific conferences as a means for retrieving emergent knowledge related to BMI for circular economy and PSS design, as these are both nascent fields. The selected publications from grey literature are influential and primarily cover the circular economy domain, since some approaches in this domain are practitionerfocused and have been published in materials produced outside the academic publishing (e.g., websites, white papers, etc.) (Bocken et al., 2019). Fig. 2 shows the distribution of papers by journals and publishing sources.

The distribution of papers by publication year in relation to their focus on circular economy and/or PSS is presented in Fig. 3. Papers on PSS have been published in a time span of nine years, from 2010 to 2018. Although the term "product-service system" was first formally introduced in 1999 by Goedkoop et al. (1999), the number of publications has increased in recent years as literature into scholarly communities of PSS and servitization has only recently linked PSS to value proposition design and BMI (Pohlmann and Kaartemo, 2017). To a certain extent, a uniform distribution of papers can be observed between 2013 and 2018.

From the perspective of circular economy, the first publication on BMI appeared in 2013. As pointed out by Pieroni et al. (2019b), a widespread of the circular economy concept was initiated in this year by institutions such as Ellen MacArthur Foundation (EMF,



Fig. 1. Literature search procedure and results.

Table	3
-------	---

Framework for classifying data of approaches.

	Categories	Alternative values	Description	References
a.	Development level	Theoretical Experimental	Approach developed only conceptually Approach already applied in practical cases for the purpose of validation	Pigosso et al. (2011)
		Consolidated	Approach validated and applied in practical cases by practitioners	
b.	Nature of data	Qualitative	Provide general guidance based on subjective analysis	Pigosso et al. (2011)
		Quantitative	Provide quantification based on objective analysis	
c.	Representation style	Framework	Approach supporting the design of value propositions from a conceptual perspective (e.g., models, typology, taxonomy, etc.)	(Pigosso et al., 2011; Bocken et al., 2019; Pieroni et al., 2019b)
		Guideline	General explanations to guide the design of value propositions	
		Checklist	List of items to be checked or consulted after designing value propositions	
		Visualization tool	Paper-based or computational visual approach used to design value propositions	
		Process model	Evolutionary steps and activities employed in the design process of value propositions	
		Cards/serious game	Board- or computational games employed during the design of value propositions	
d.	Process type	Linear	Process-based approach driven by discrete and	Schneider and Scheer (2003)
		Iterative	Process-based approach driven by repetitions of the involved activities	
		Prototypical	Process-based approach that uses prototypes to communicate/test value propositions	
e.	Actor's perspective	Customer	The value proposition is designed considering only the customer perspective	Category inductively proposed
		Stakeholder	The value proposition is designed based on a multi- stakeholder approach, in which the customer is considered a type of stakeholder	
f.	Purpose	Ideation	Focuses on phases needed to generate/create value propositions	Category inductively proposed
		Selection	Includes the selection of value propositions	
		Evaluation	Includes the evaluation/assessment of value propositions	
		Implementation/experimentation	Address the development of prototypes to test/ experiment the value propositions with actors	
		Further steps for BM development	After designing value propositions, considers furthers steps/activities needed to develop the entire business model	



Fig. 2. Distribution of papers by journals and publishing sources.



Fig. 3. Distribution of papers by focus and publication year.

2013). Grey literature has been published since 2013, contributing to the knowledge of initiatives and projects on circular economy in industry. The first academic paper covering value proposition design was published only in 2017, which shows the approaches have just recently emerged in the academic sphere. The largest number of publications is observed in 2018, which might be related to several research projects attempting to provide guidance in the design of circular business models through the development of a variety of methods and tools (Bocken et al., 2019). In summary, the rising trend of publications in the circular economy field might be associated to the recent dissemination of this concept, the advancement of the research line in BMI with several research projects being developed, and due to their appeal to academy and industries. However, approaches exploring synergies through the design of circular-oriented and PSS-oriented value propositions were proposed first in 2017 even though PSS is hailed as one of the key business strategies to achieve the circular economy (Lieder and Rashid, 2016).

4.2. Systematic analysis of approaches

The classification of the 46 approaches (described in the Appendix) according to their focus, development level, and representation style is presented in Fig. 4. Approximately 65% of them (30 out of 46) are related to the PSS domain, which is considered more mature than the circular economy domain since research in

PSS started in the early 2000s (Rabetino et al., 2018). The concept of circular economy is still contemporary (Pieroni et al., 2019b), presenting a focus on BMI and its stages after 2016 (Fig. 3). In the two approaches that attempt to integrate circular economy and PSS [#22, #26] (Mendoza et al., 2017; Sustainn, 2017), PSS is only seen as a key solution for achieving circularity. Neither of these authors address how the principles and other strategies of the circular economy can guide the design of PSS value propositions.

The majority of the identified approaches (94% of total) are qualitative in nature. This is understandable since the value proposition design is grounded on idea generation and discussions towards value creation (Bocken et al., 2013). Just two approaches related to circular economy [#26, #39] (Joustra et al., 2013; de Jong et al., 2015; Sustainn, 2017) combine both qualitative and quantitative data. However, they only employ numerical data and calculations in later stages of the value propositions design, in order to evaluate the feasibility of the business model. The hybrid nature of these two approaches, identified in the grey literature, is most likely related to their practical application in industrial and economic systems.

Around 37% of the approaches (17 out of 46) were classified as theoretical, 57% as experimental (26 out of 46), whereas consolidated approaches accounted for 7% (3 out of 46). Although the PSS domain is advanced in comparison to the circular economy field, the PSS domain is still under development and some approaches are theoretical. PSS is a complex system and theoretical approaches

		Representation style					
Approa	aches	Framework	Guideline	Checklist	Visualization tool	Process model	Cards/ serious game
{@}}	#1					•	
	#2					•	
	#3					•	
	#4				•	•	
	#5					•	
<u>ک</u>	#6				•	•	
	#7			•			
	#8	•					
	#9						
	#10					•	
	#11						
256	#12					••••••	
	#12	•					
256	#13	•					
	#14			•			
1	#15	•				•	
197	#16					•	
197 - I	#17		•		•	•	
197	#18	•					
- T	#19	•					
- 407 -	#20	•			•		
7	#21	•					
-{Q}-	#22					•	
Q.	#23	•				•	
	#24					•	
	#25	•				•	
°}⊕	#26					•	
	#27						
	#28		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				
	#29						
103	#30						
276	#21					•	
	#31		•				
134 ·	#32					•	
256	#33					•	
	#34		•			•	
1997 - E	#35		•			•	•
\$\$ \$	#36	•					
<u>i</u> q;	#37	•				•	
<u>لې</u>	#38		•		•		
<u>ل</u>	#39	•				•	
2	#40		•				
7	#41	•	•				
2	#42					•	
<u>ب</u>	#43						
{ĝ}	#44						
~~~	#45						
٩ ٢	#46					•	•
		Background	PSS	Circ	ular Economy	PSS and Circu	lar Economy
		Development level	Theoretica	۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔۔	xperimental	දි⊖ Consolidat	ed

Fig. 4. Classification of approaches that support the design of circular/PSS value propositions in BMI context by their focus, development level and representation style ([#] codes at Appendix).

help to create explanations and predictions to achieve a solid understanding. In the past few years, there has been an effort to validate some approaches in an empirical way. However, these have been tested through case studies, with limitations of: no more than one company per study (e.g., #13 (Nu $\beta$ holz, 2018), #44 (Leitão et al., 2013)); by means of a limited number of workshops with business

practitioners (e.g., #24 (Antikainen et al., 2017)); or by using with researchers/students as the validation subjects (e.g., #4 (Fernandes et al., 2018), #33 (Geissdoerfer et al., 2016)). These limitations indicate that the development of approaches and validation of their applicability at a practical level is still weak.

In terms of the representation style, there are a variety of

different forms and mechanisms considered in the approaches, depending on their focus and development level. While process models and visualizations tools stand out in the experimental and consolidated levels, theoretical approaches are primarily represented in frameworks (model, typologies or taxonomy). The identified models are related to seven main areas:

- business intervention along the product life cycle [#9, #13, #26] (Sustainn, 2017; Manninen et al., 2018; Nuβholz, 2018);
- design and management perspectives in different design levels [#15, #23, #31; #37] (Marilungo et al., 2015; Peruzzini et al., 2015; Pieroni et al., 2016; França et al., 2017; Teixeira et al., 2017);
- value experience as a static concept [#18, #36] (Belal et al., 2014; Shirahada et al., 2015; Äyväri et al., 2017);
- the link between service design and BMI [#25] (Prendeville and Bocken, 2017);
- different types of innovation when modifying or creating value propositions [#28] (Åkesson et al., 2016);
- value creation system [#26, #29] (Wang et al., 2015; Sustainn, 2017);
- knowledge and operational concerns while designing [#41] (Kumar et al., 2014).

Typologies were used to describe the design options of value propositions when developing a circular business model [#8, #12] (Manninen et al., 2018; Lüdeke-Freund et al., 2018). Lastly, a taxonomy [#21] (Urbinati et al., 2017) depicted the modes of circularity adoption along the dimensions of value proposition & interface and value network.

In general, guidelines are represented as textual documents describing recommendations to be followed when designing value propositions [#5, #17, #20, #27, #31, #34, #35, #38, #39, #40, #41] (Frow and Payne, 2011; Joustra et al., 2013; Kumar et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2014, 2017; Bocken et al., 2015; de Jong et al., 2015; Kraaijenhagen et al., 2016; Weetman, 2016; Pezzotta et al., 2016; Pieroni et al., 2016; Baldassarre et al., 2017; Quero and Ventura, 2018). Some of them include examples [#20] (Yang et al., 2017) or key criteria [#35] (Weetman, 2016) that briefly help in translating the recommendations into activities.

Only two approaches were classified as checklists [#7, #14] (Urbinati et al., 2017, 2018; Pieroni et al., 2018a; Ünal et al., 2019). This indicates a tendency to focus on guidance that touches upon the nature of activities to inspire the design of value propositions rather than in checking the process at the end of the design process. Visualization tools were developed to support practitioners in decision-making, especially related to the value proposition evolution related to a variety of data sets:

- potential customers or stakeholders that may impact the design of value propositions [#4, #6, #17, #19, #20, #38] (Bocken et al., 2013, 2015; Short et al., 2013; Pokorná et al., 2015; Äyväri et al., 2017; Baldassarre et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2017; Fernandes et al., 2018);
- list of customer/stakeholder's needs and problems [#4, #6, #19] (Pokorná et al., 2015; Äyväri et al., 2017; Fernandes et al., 2018);
- ideas of products and services [#4, #6, #17, #20, #38] (Bocken et al., 2013, 2015; Short et al., 2013; Pokorná et al., 2015; Äyväri et al., 2017; Baldassarre et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2017; Fernandes et al., 2018);
- multiple types of value [#4, #20, #38] (Bocken et al., 2013, 2015; Short et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2017; Fernandes et al., 2018).

Most of the approaches are represented as process models. In general, these approaches follow a step-by-step structure,

describing the activities, the tools or methods to be applied at each step, and the expected outcomes. Information of time and users (in terms of participants' roles) are rarely indicated. The process models may cover different innovation stages until the development of the initial business model. The distribution of the process models according to their purpose and type of process is depicted in Fig. 5.

All of the process models support, in some way, the ideation of value propositions. In this stage, they may present activities related to the preparation of the company, understanding of customers/ stakeholders, and the creation of value propositions (e.g., #17, #33 (Geissdoerfer et al., 2016; Baldassarre et al., 2017)), or activities focused only on idea generation [#10, #15, #26] (Teixeira et al., 2017; Sustainn, 2017; Manninen et al., 2018). Even though the approaches integrating PSS and circular economy domains [#22, #26] (Mendoza et al., 2017; Sustainn, 2017) cover the ideation stage, they do not address exactly how to create PSS value propositions towards circular economy. Less than a quarter of the total number of process models cover the stages of selection [#4, #6, #22, #23, #33, #35] (Pokorná et al., 2015; Geissdoerfer et al., 2016; Weetman, 2016; Äyväri et al., 2017; França et al., 2017; Fernandes et al., 2018; Mendoza et al., 2017), evaluation [#6, #10, #22] (Pokorná et al., 2015; Äyväri et al., 2017; Manninen et al., 2018; Mendoza et al., 2017; Fernandes et al., 2018), and implementation/experimentation [#11, #16, #17, #23, #24, #33, #44] (Leitão et al., 2013; Antikainen et al., 2017; Baldassarre et al., 2017; Rau et al., 2017; Bocken et al., 2018). Among these, the process models often go directly to testing value propositions with users/customers rather than selecting or evaluating them first. Around 65% of process models also present steps for developing the entire business model. Although they do not, per se, point exclusively to the essence of value proposition design, they were included in this research since the approaches for BMI include the design of value proposition in the first instance.

Approaches employing cards and games are rarely addressed. They cover the BMI in a way to help players to understand and implement the concepts of circular economy [#35] (Weetman, 2016) or sustainability [#43, #46] (Dewulf, 2010; Breuer and Lüdeke-Freund, 2014). As the design of value propositions involves creativity and abstract activities, gamification principles could be used to support that aim.

Most of the evaluated process models represent linear and iterative process (although, in these approaches, there is a sequence in steps). Two process models in the field of circular economy were classified as linear, which is not related to the meaning of linear economy. It means that the activities of those process models are organized and employed following a step-by-step approach. Despite the influence of agile and design thinking approaches, only 19,5% of the process models follow a prototypical process. This indicates that most of the process models do not indicate the outcomes of experiments to go back-and-forth between steps.

Fig. 6 classifies the approaches according to the actor's perspective. In the context of this research, actors are defined as individuals "involved in planning, searching, selecting, negotiating and evaluating a range of value propositions" (Frow et al., 2014, p. 332). Based on Fernandes et al. (2019), customer is considered as a type of stakeholder. Then, when an approach is classified as related to stakeholder's perspective it means that the approach considers the customers and also other individuals or groups that can impact or be impacted by the value proposition design. Around 50% of the PSS-related approaches consider only the customer's perspective when designing the value proposition. That might be a consequence of the influence of traditional literature that emphasizes the role of customers as key individuals for whom the solution should be addressed in value in exchange flow. On the contrary, most of the



Fig. 5. Classification of process models that support the design of circular/PSS value propositions in BMI context by their purpose.

approaches related to circular economy take the stakeholder's perspective. Some approaches in the circular economy field still consider the customer's perspective [#7, #11, #13, #24] (Antikainen et al., 2017; Urbinati et al., 2017, 2018; Bocken et al., 2018; Nu $\beta$ holz, 2018; Ünal et al., 2019), but more emphasis is given to the importance of integrating and involving different stakeholders due to an enhanced system complexity.

# 5. Discussion

Although PSS has been labeled as a means to achieve circularity, there are limited considerations in the literature on the design of circular PSS value propositions. PSS is not a panacea for achieving the circular economy or sustainability (Tukker, 2015) because it depends on in-depth transformation of the business model towards that aim. The systematic analysis of the approaches, based on a classification framework, supports the identification of which aspects should be considered to develop a systemic approach that can guide the design of PSS value propositions with the intention of succeeding in circularity. The classification of approaches is important to elucidate which characteristics, in terms of data, style, level, and purpose, are being employed from theoretical and practical perspectives. From this, it is possible to consolidate the specific inputs, features, and principles to be followed, as well as the opportunities that should be addressed when orienting the PSS value proposition design towards the circular economy.

The analyzed approaches are heterogeneous in terms of representation styles. They seem to vary in objective and expected outcomes. In the PSS domain, they include models, guidelines, visualization tools, process models, and serious games. Typologies, taxonomy, and checklists are referred to the field of circular economy, whose representation styles also include models, guidelines, process models, and serious games. Templates used to design value propositions are presented only in the PSS-related literature. Only two typologies and one taxonomy were proposed in the context of circular economy. A clear understanding of possible design options or patterns, through basic terminology, might be useful to support practitioners in designing circular PSS value propositions. We also stand out the potential of gamified approaches as practical mechanisms to support the ideation process while allowing hands-on experience for practitioners.

The process models are comprehensive, describing activities and tips for starting the innovation process. Logics and concepts of process models related to the PSS domain are derived from product development and service development, as had already been argued by Ericson and Larsson (2009). In the PSS scope, the process models focus primarily on the functional needs and problems of stakeholders. In its turn, the design of circular value propositions is oriented by the establishment of a vision based on future-oriented circular economy options. For this reason, the role of the leadership in guiding the design process and pulling teams in the same direction is becoming prominent (Kraaijenhagen et al., 2016). Moreover, the importance of aligning understanding of the theoretical concepts of PSS and circular economy to level the interpretations and interests is recognized (Joustra et al., 2013; Mentink, 2014; de Jong et al., 2015).

In general, existing process models are not sufficiently exhaustive. Although all process models include the ideation stage, there is



Fig. 6. Classification of approaches that support the design of circular/PSS value propositions in BMI context by the actor's perspective.

a lack of detail on how to identify opportunities or develop ideas of PSS considering the circular economy approach. The selection of value propositions usually follows an intuitive logic based on the link to the vision and the business. In the evaluation stage, there is a lack of consideration of the value that can be perceived from specific value propositions.

None of the approaches proposed a KPI (key performance indicator) to measure the circularity level of the value propositions. It could be developed by intersecting applicable principles and strategies of circular economy, depending on the PSS case, with the potential business, economic, environmental and social benefits. The circularity level could be expressed through different ranges to characterize the benefits of PSS value proposition regarding its relevance to circular economy (e.g., limited, elementary or substantial benefits due to the incorporation of the principles and strategies). Lastly, there is a need to advance towards the experimentation of value propositions through prototype development. This can reduce some uncertainties while providing "learning by doing process" for the innovation team, and support the understanding of the influencing aspects for the business model configuration.

Another key finding is that literature is evolving to a sharedvalue design through a collaborative system of stakeholders, even though it is still in its infancy. This occurs mostly in the circular economy field, which is characterized by a "complex network of interdependent but independent actors/stakeholders" (Antikainen and Valkokari, 2016, p. 7). Circular PSS value propositions should embed potential value that can be offered to a broader range of stakeholders instead of focusing only on the customer perspective. Multiple stakeholders should be involved in the design process rather than considering the perspectives of limited groups of actors related to either the customer side or the provision side (e.g., manufacturers, suppliers, etc.) (Fernandes et al., 2019). However, only few approaches articulate the value co-creation, e.g., Baldassarre et al. (2017) and Yu and Sangiorgi (2018). For the realization of value through circular PSS value propositions, stakeholders should be treated as active actors in a co-creation process, rather than merely passive audiences.

The scope of sustainability is supported in some approaches. In circular economy field, studies listed sustainability criteria to be considered when developing circular business models (Pieroni et al., 2018a), proposed a framework to help companies in analyzing the contribution of circular business models for sustainability (Manninen et al., 2018), a framework for support the development and implementation of sustainable business models consistent with circular economy principles (Mendoza et al., 2017), and a cycle for business model experimentation (Bocken et al., 2018). Approaches dealing with sustainable paradigm in PSS field vary from the business modeling process (Dewulf, 2010; Bocken et al., 2013, 2014, 2015; Short et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2013, 2014, 2017; Breuer and Lüdeke-Freund, 2017; França et al., 2017; Holgado et al., 2013) to the value proposition design by employing the



Fig. 7. Integrative view for circular PSS value proposition design.

perspective of design thinking/user-driven innovation to create sustainable PSS value propositions (Geissdoerfer et al., 2016; Baldassarre et al., 2017).

Despite the reasonable number of cataloged approaches in this research, the few approaches focusing specifically on the design of value propositions indicate that literature is more concentrated in the scope of business models (in a broader perspective). These results are consistent with recent consideration in service science literature, which state that there is limited knowledge on how to design value propositions (Åkesson et al., 2016) even though this term ("value proposition") has been widely employed in theory and practice (Frow and Payne, 2011). Thus, considering that the value proposition is the core dimension of the business model, there is a need to move forward in a deep understanding of the aspects that might influence the design of circular PSS value propositions to enhance the synergies between both fields and to help companies to cope with the complexity and uncertainty involved in this process.

To advance this aspect, we propose an integrated view of guiding principles that should be adopted when designing circular PSS value propositions (Fig. 7). The guiding principles were developed based on approaches that describe inherent characteristics that can influence the design of value proposition in both PSS and circular economy fields. Guiding principles described in the gradient area of the puzzle depicted in Fig. 7 are those that commonly come from the PSS and circular economy domains.

A target vision towards the circular economy should be formalized to support the creation of a future business environment oriented to circularity (Kraaijenhagen et al., 2016; Antikainen et al., 2017; Bocken et al., 2018; Mendoza et al., 2017). To create a successful growth strategy, practitioners have to consider economic and environmental concerns when designing value propositions, i.e. apply resource efficiency/longevity strategies in the development of solutions that can lead to economic and business growth (Pieroni et al., 2018a; Nu $\beta$ holz, 2018). It demands innovativeness to change the value creation model (Antikainen et al., 2017; Pieroni et al., 2018a), aiming for radical innovations resulting from the creative process rather than proposing ad-hoc solutions.

The value proposition design should follow a life cycle thinking

approach, i.e. the activities performed in the middle-of-life and end-of-life must be considered since the beginning-of-life (Yang et al., 2013, 2014, 2017; Peruzzini et al., 2015). Combined with this, needs and problems of stakeholders should be identified to ensure contextual understanding of them (Kumar et al., 2014; Marilungo et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2015; Beverungen et al., 2018; Yu and Sangiorgi, 2018). Involvement and cooperation among provider, customers and other stakeholders are essential for a reciprocal relationship since the early stages of design (Antikainen et al., 2017; Baldassarre et al., 2017; Urbinati et al., 2017). Service components should be contemplated in the value proposition, focusing on providing the use availability or a result rather than the product ownership. Companies also need to take into account the potential value that could be perceived by stakeholders. The value propositions should be assessed considering their potential value and their economic and environmental performance (Yang et al., 2014; Weetman, 2016; Antikainen et al., 2017; Pieroni et al., 2018a). Moreover, companies should follow an agile/prototypical approach for the experimentation of value propositions with customers and other relevant stakeholders (Geissdoerfer et al., 2016: Baldassarre et al., 2017: Bocken et al., 2018: Yu and Sangiorgi, 2018).

Business and technical approaches encompassing a long-term orientation should be followed by companies (Peruzzini et al., 2015). This would increase the readiness for integration, adaptability, and accessibility of the value propositions. By having new ideas through creative techniques, practitioners may consider the current offerings of products and services as a starting point for envisioning the creation of value propositions, given the vision related to the circular economy and the stakeholders' needs and problems. It raises awareness of the importance of recombining internal and external resources to design innovative and varied value propositions (Beverungen et al., 2018; Yu and Sangiorgi, 2018).

To advance research on circular PSS value propositions design in BMI context, we also summarize the main proposals for future research. They result from the analysis of the 46 approaches, which enabled the identification of gaps and potential solutions. The proposals are described as follows:

- Integrated, systemic and interdisciplinary approach: this could benefit from the "process model" lenses combined with another representation style, such as visualization tools and gamified approaches. A process model could span all stages of innovation until the development of the initial business model, and be based on an agile/prototypical approach to represent the dynamic nature of activities.
- Design options of circular PSS value propositions: from analysis of real cases, PSS features and circular strategies could be combined in design options to inspire practitioners when designing the solutions.
- Multiple stakeholder approach: identifying who are the stakeholders and involving them in the circular PSS value proposition design through the articulation of knowledge and actions are important activities to be in place before the ideation stage. Stakeholders and customers involvement can be combined based on the identification and prioritization of their needs and problems to be addressed in a co-creation process involving both parties. The selection of the representation style could influence this purpose. For example, gamified approaches can create a risk-free environmental, critical thinking through collaboration between customers and other stakeholders, stimulation of creativity while people can learn from their limitations and mistakes (Riedel and Hauge, 2011; Laurischkat and Viertelhausen, 2017).
- Perceived value: there is a need to determine the multiple types of value that could be perceived by stakeholders, which might include experience, economic, environmental, and social benefits.
- Quantitative (or at least, semi-quantitative) approaches: even if the nature of decision-making related to value propositions is qualitative, there is an opportunity for quantitative methods/ tools to support specific stages of the value proposition design, such as its assessment and prioritization. Quantitative measures could be, for example, circularity level indexes of value propositions, or the level of efforts or investments needed to implement them. Multi-criteria decision analysis can also be explored to select the value propositions.
- Empirical studies: more action-oriented research, whether in the same industry sector or in different sectors, is required to increase the maturity of the research.

# 6. Conclusion

This study consolidated and analyzed the approaches that can support the design of circular and/or PSS value propositions in a BMI context. The research methodology was designed on the grounds of a systematic literature review accompanied by a critical analysis of the findings through content analysis. The resulting 46 approaches were classified according to their development level, nature of data, representation style, type of process, actor's perspective, and purpose.

The main general findings of this study are:

- (i) Research on value proposition design of circular PSS is in its infancy;
- (ii) The design of circular and PSS value propositions is still being considered independently, claiming for an integrated and systemic design approach, such as a process model combined with visualization tools or gamified approach, for example;
- (iii) Lack of a unified description of the design options of value propositions of circular PSS, which could be solved through a combined analysis of PSS features and circular economy principles/strategies based on real cases;

- (iv) Process model is the most prevalent representation style, but not all stages for value proposition design are covered in a BMI context. A proposal of process model should cover the stages of ideation, selection, evaluation, and implementation/experimentation;
- (v) Stakeholders have been timidly involved in a value cocreation process. Customers and other relevant stakeholders could be invited to articulate their knowledge in ideation sessions to propose balanced solutions for their needs and problems. Gamified approaches could be a potential solution to accelerate their integration in the process;
- (vi) The value perceived by customers and other stakeholders through the value propositions are being rarely addressed.
   Experience, economic, environmental and social value should be identified and used to evaluate the value propositions;
- (vii) There is an opportunity to advance research through quantitative and empirical studies.

Connected to these findings, we have proposed a number of guiding principles, ranging from managerial to technical aspects, which can be used as a reference to support the structure of the design process of circular PSS value propositions.

This study contributes to theory by advancing the discussion about the potential synergies between the PSS and circular economy domains by mapping and understanding the foundations of approaches that can support the value proposition design. The systematization of approaches resulted in the guiding principles, which serve as a basis for supporting the development of an integrated and systemic approach. In addition, this study provides an agenda to guide efforts in future research. From a methodological perspective, the framework developed to classify the approaches could be adopted or used as inspiration by researchers when structuring similar types of information in other fields.

Regarding the practical perspective, this study can aid practitioners in building awareness of the existing approaches that can support the design of circular and PSS value propositions. Furthermore, the guiding principles can be used as a basis for reasoning, in order to facilitate the effective development of the value propositions at the beginning of the business modeling.

Limitations of this research can be pointed out. Firstly, backward and forward searches were conducted, which may generate selection bias. To address this limitation, crossreferences were subjected to the inclusion criteria and a screening process, but specific rules for choosing papers in the first instance could mitigate selection variability. Secondly, non-peer reviewed publications, which do not follow a scientific rigor, were included. The selection of those publications was supported by analyzes from an academic paper, and grey literature was relevant to guarantee comprehensiveness and capture approaches influencing practitioners' action. Finally, the classification of the cataloged approaches was subjected to the researchers' judgment and, for some approaches, a secondary source was used. We sought to address this limitation by developing a framework for classifying data of approaches and by aligning decisions with a BMI expert.

Future work shall develop an integrated approach to design circular PSS value propositions. A conceptual approach could be prescribed by following the guiding principles and based on the analysis of the existing approaches, focusing mainly on process models. Exploratory case studies could also be conducted to empirically understand the design of value propositions. Once the first version of the approach has been defined, it could be evaluated by experts in the fields of PSS and circular economy and be iteratively improved according to their feedback. The proposed approach should be further tested in manufacturing companies and evaluated according to its usability and applicability.

#### **Declaration of competing interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

### Acknowledgments

This study was supported by São Paulo Research Foundation

Coordination (Capes) for supporting this research. Also, the authors would like to thank researchers from the project CIRCit (Circular Economy Integration in the Nordic Industry for Enhanced Sustainability and Competitiveness) for enriching discussions on circular economy.

# Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120507.

#### Appendix

#### Table 4

Approaches supporting the design of PSS and circular value propositions in the context of BMI.

Code	Description	References
#1	Method for recombinant corvice systems	Poverupgen et al. (2019)
#1 #2	Methodology for architecting collaborative DSS of systems	Hoin at al. (2018)
#2 #2	Process model for service development towards value creation	Vu and Sangiorgi (2018)
#J #4	Value ring	Formandos et al. (2018)
#4 #F	Value IIIIg	(France and Daving 2011; Occurs and Venture 2018)
#5 #C	Value proposition plaining framework	(Flow and Payne, 2011, Quelo and Ventura, 2018) (Delverné et el. 2015, Ävyräri et el. 2017, Formen des et el. 2018)
#0 #7	Value proposition canvas by Osterwalder et al. (2014)	(Pokoma et al., 2015; Ayvan et al., 2017; Fernandes et al., 2018)
#/ #0	Fining practices for circular business model at customer value proposition	(UIDIIIdii et al., 2017, 2018)
#0 #0	Environmental value proposition table	Manninen et al. (2018)
#9 #10	Environmental value proposition framework	Manninen et al. (2018)
#10	Step-by-step approach of the evaluation framework of environmental value proposition	$ \begin{array}{c} \text{Mallillell et al. (2018)} \\ \text{Poster et al. (2010)} \end{array} $
#11	Approach for circular business model experimentation	Bocken et al. (2018)
#12	Value proposition design options	Ludeke-Freund et al. (2018)
#13	Circular business model mapping tool	Nupholz (2018)
#14	Sustainable qualitying criteria for designing circular business models	Pieroni et al. (2018a)
#15	Method of management and interaction design for service	leixeira et al. (2017)
#16	Service design process	Rau et al. (2017)
#17	Process for sustainable value proposition design	Baldassarre et al. (2017)
#18	Value Proposition Builder™ by Barnes et al. (2009)	Ayvari et al. (2017)
#19	People Value Canvas by Wildevuur et al. (2014)	Ayvari et al. (2017)
#20	Value analysis tool	Yang et al. (2017)
#21	Taxonomy of circular business models	Urbinati et al. (2017)
#22	Approach of backcasting and eco-design for circular economy (BECE)	Mendoza et al. (2017)
#23	Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development (FSSD)	França et al. (2017)
#24	Circular economy BMI process	Antikainen et al. (2017)
#25	Systematization of service design tools to support BMI	Prendeville and Bocken (2017)
#26	Circularity canvas methodology	Sustainn (2017)
#27	Service Engineering Methodology (SEEM)	(Pezzotta et al., 2014, 2016)
#28	Value proposition test-driving for service innovation	Åkesson et al. (2016)
#29	Product-service value creation system	Wang et al. (2015)
#30	Product-service value creation process	Wang et al. (2015)
#31	PSS transition framework	Pieroni et al. (2016)
#32	Workshop to define value propositions using service design	West and Di (2016)
#33	Business modeling process from the value proposition	Geissdoerfer et al. (2016)
#34	10 steps towards a circular business	Kraaijenhagen et al. (2016)
#35	Game for whole systems design and business model development in circular economy	Weetman (2016)
#36	Service innovation chart	(Belal et al., 2014; Shirahada et al., 2015)
#37	Technical-business design methodology for PSS	(Marilungo et al., 2015; Peruzzini et al., 2015)
#38	Value mapping tool	(Bocken et al., 2013, 2015; Short et al., 2013)
#39	Workbook 'Guided Choices towards a Circular Business Model'	(Joustra et al., 2013; de Jong et al., 2015)
#40	Sustainable value analysis tool (SVAT)	(Yang et al., 2013, 2014)
#41	Value Understanding, Proposition, and Realization based Services Design (VURSD) approach	Kumar et al. (2014)
#42	Circular Business Model Innovation (CBMI) Framework	Mentink (2014)
#43	Business innovation kit for sustainable BMI for value networks	Breuer and Lüdeke-Freund (2014)
#44	Business model roadmap for PSS	Leitão et al. (2013)
#45	Business modeling process for sustainable manufacturing	Holgado et al. (2013)
#46	Play it forward: a game for designing business models with sustainability principles.	Dewulf (2010)

(FAPESP) under the processes 2017/27144–3 and 2018/13024–9. The opinions, hypotheses and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are of responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of FAPESP. The authors would like to extend sincere thanks to São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP), Brazilian Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq) and the Higher Education Personnel Improvement

#### References

- Åkesson, M., Skålén, P., Edvardsson, B., Stålhammar, A., 2016. Value proposition testdriving for service innovation: how frontline employees innovate value propositions. J. Serv. Theor. Pract. 26 (3), 338–362. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSTP-10-2014-0242.
- Aminoff, A., Valkokari, K., Antikainen, M., Kettunen, O., 2017. Exploring disruptive

business model innovation for the circular economy. In: Campana, G., Howlett, R., Setchi, R.C.B. (Eds.), Sustainable Design and Manufacturing 2017. SDM 2017. Springer, Cham, pp. 525–536. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-57078-5_50.

- Annarelli, A., Battistella, C., Nonino, F., 2016. Product service system: a conceptual framework from a systematic review. J. Clean. Prod. 139, 1011–1032. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.08.061.
- Antikainen, M., Aminoff, A., Kettunen, O., Sundqvist-Andberg, H., Paloheimo, H., 2017. Circular economy business model innovation process – case study. In: Campana, G., et al. (Eds.), Sustainable Design and Manufacturing 2017. Springer International Publishing, pp. 546–555. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-57078-5_52.
- Antikainen, M., Valkokari, K., 2016. A framework for sustainable circular business model innovation. Technol. Innovat. Manag. Rev. 6 (7), 5–12. https://doi.org/ 10.22215/timreview/1000.
- Äyväri, A., Jyrämä, A., Äyväri, A., 2017. Rethinking value proposition tools for living labs. J. Serv. Theor. Pract. 27 (5), 1024–1039. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSTP-09-2015-0205.
- Baldassarre, B., Calabretta, G., Bocken, N.M.P., Jaskiewicz, T., 2017. Bridging sustainable business model innovation and user-driven innovation: a process for sustainable value proposition design. J. Clean. Prod. 147, 175–186. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.01.081.
- Barnes, C., Blake, H., Pinder, D., et al., 2009. Creating and delivering your value proposition: managing customer experience for profit. Kogan Page Publishers, London.
- Barquet, A.P.B., Oliveira, M.G., Amigo, C.R., Cunha, V.P., Rozenfeld, H., 2013. Employing the business model concept to support the adoption of productservice systems (PSS). Ind. Market. Manag. 42 (5), 693–704. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.indmarman.2013.05.003.
- Belal, H.M., Yoneda, T., Takahashi, N., Hirata, N., Amemiya, K., Yamamoto, M., Ikeda, Y., Shirahada, K., 2014. Approach for organizational service climate Creation : action research in a Japanese monitor maker. In: Proceedings of PICMET '14 Conference, pp. 2449–2454.
- Beverungen, D., Lüttenberg, H., Wolf, V., 2018. Recombinant service systems engineering. Bus. Inform. Syst. Eng. 60 (5), 377–391. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12599-018-0526-4.
- Biolchini, J., Mian, P.G., Natali, A.C.C., Travassos, G.H., 2005. Systematic Review in Software Engineering. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-70621-2.
- Blomsma, F., Kjær, L.L., Pigosso, D.C.A., McAloone, T.C., Lloyd, S., 2018. Exploring circular strategy combinations - towards understanding the role of PSS. Procedia CIRP 69, 752–757. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2017.11.129.
- Blomsma, F., Pieroni, M., Kravchenko, M., Pigosso, D., Hildenbrand, J., Kristinsdottir, A.R., Kristoffersen, E., Shabazi, S., Nielsen, K.D., Jönbrink, A., Li, J., Wiik, C., McAloone, T.C., 2019. Developing a circular strategies framework for manufacturing companies to support circular economy oriented innovation. J. Clean. Prod. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.118271.
- Bocken, N., Short, S., Rana, P., Evans, S., 2013. A value mapping tool for sustainable business modelling. Corp. Govern. 13 (5), 482–497. https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-06-2013-0078.
- Bocken, N., Strupeit, L., Whalen, K., Nußholz, J., 2019. A review and evaluation of circular business model innovation tools. Sustainability 11 (2010), 1–25. https:// doi.org/10.3390/su11082210.
- Bocken, N.M.P., Short, S.W., Rana, P., Evans, S., 2014. A literature and practice review to develop sustainable business model archetypes. J. Clean. Prod. 65, 42–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.11.039.
- Bocken, N.M.P., Pauw, I., Bakker, C., Grinten, B., 2016. Product design and business model strategies for a circular economy. J. Ind. Prod. Eng. 33 (5), 308–320. https://doi.org/10.1080/21681015.2016.1172124.
- Bocken, N.M.P., Rana, P., Short, S.W., 2015. Value mapping for sustainable business thinking. J. Ind. Prod. Eng. 32 (1), 67–81. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 21681015.2014.1000399.
- Bocken, N.M.P., Schuit, C.S.C., Kraaijenhagen, C., 2018. Experimenting with a circular business model: lessons from eight cases. Environ. Innovat. Soc. Transit. 28, 79–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2018.02.001. July 2017.
- Boehm, M., Thomas, O., 2013. Looking beyond the rim of one's teacup: a multidisciplinary literature review of product-service systems in information systems, business management, and engineering & design. J. Clean. Prod. 51, 245–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.01.019.
- Breuer, H., Lüdeke-Freund, F., 2014. Normative innovation for sustainable business models in value networks. In: The Proceedings of XXV ISPIM Conference-Innovation for Sustainable Economy and Society, p. 17.
- Breuer, H., Lüdeke-Freund, F., 2017. Values-based network and business model innovation. Int. J. Innovat. Manag. 21 (3), 1–35. https://doi.org/10.1142/ S1363919617500281.
- Dewulf, K.R., 2010. Play it forward: a game-based tool for sustainable product and business model innovation in the fuzzy front end. In: Knowledge Collaboration & Learning for Sustainable Innovation, Proceedings of the ERSCP-EMSU Conference, Delft, The Netherlands, pp. 1–16.
- Diaz Lopez, F.J., Bastein, T., Tukker, A., 2019. Business model innovation for resourceefficiency, circularity and cleaner production: what 143 cases tell us. Ecol. Econ. 155, 20–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2018.03.009. March 2017.
- Dresch, A., Lacerda, D.P., Antunes Jr., J.A.V., 2015. Design Science Research. Springer International Publishing, Cham, Switzerland. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-07374-3.
- Elo, S., Kyngäs, H., 2008. The qualitative content analysis process. J. Adv. Nurs. 62 (1),

107-115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x.

- EMF, 2013. Towards the Circular Economy: economic and business rationale for an accelerated transition. Ellen MacArthur Foundation 1, 1–96. https://doi.org/ 10.1162/108819806775545321.
- Ericson, Å.M., Larsson, T.C., 2009. People, product and process perspectives on product/service-system development. Development 219–236. Available at. http://www.springerlink.com/content/p735k5n7v3505h60/fulltext.pdf.
- Falagas, M.E., Pitsouni, E.I., Malietzis, G.A., Pappas, G., 2008. Comparison of PubMed, Scopus, web of science, and google scholar: strengths and weaknesses. Faseb. J. 22 (2), 338–342. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.07-9492LSF.
- Fernandes, S.C., Rosa, M., Queiroz, C., Rozenfeld, H., 2018. An initial prototype of a tool for defining value proposition in the product-service system (PSS) design. In: Proceedings of International Design Conference, DESIGN. Design Society, Dubrovnik, Croatia. https://doi.org/10.21278/idc.2018.0433.
- Fernandes, S.C., Martins, L.D., Rozenfeld, H., 2019. Who are the stakeholders mentioned in cases of Product-Service System (PSS) design? Proceed. Design Soc.: Int. Conf. Eng. Des. 1, 3131–3140. https://doi.org/10.1017/dsi.2019.320.
- França, C.L., Broman, G., Robèrt, K., Basile, G., Trygg, L., 2017. An approach to business model innovation and design for strategic sustainable development. J. Clean. Prod. 140, 155–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.06.124.
- Frow, P., McColl-Kennedy, J.R., Hilton, T., Davidson, A., Payne, A., Brozovic, D., 2014. Value propositions: a service ecosystems perspective. Market. Theor. 14 (3), 327–351. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470593114534346.
- Frow, P., Payne, A., 2011. A stakeholder perspective of the value proposition concept. Eur. J. Market. 45 (1/2), 223–240. https://doi.org/10.1108/03090561111095676. Gaiardelli, P., Resta, B., Martinez, V., Pinto, R., Albores, P., 2014. A classification model
- Gaiardelli, P., Resta, B., Martinez, V., Pinto, R., Albores, P., 2014. A classification model for product-service offerings. J. Clean. Prod. 66, 507–519. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.11.032.
- Geissdoerfer, M., Bocken, N.M.P., Hultink, E.J., 2016. Design thinking to enhance the sustainable business modelling process – a workshop based on a value mapping process. J. Clean. Prod. 135, 1218–1232. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jclepro.2016.07.020.
- Goedkoop, M.J., van Halen, C.J.G., te Riele, H.R.M., Rommens, P.J.M., 1999. Product Service Systems, Ecological and Economic Basics. Economic Affairs, The Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2004.02125.x.
- Haase, R.P., Pigosso, D.C.A., McAloone, T.C., 2017. Product/service-system origins and trajectories: a systematic literature review of PSS definitions and their characteristics. Procedia CIRP 64, 157–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.procir.2017.03.053.
- Hein, A.M., Sa, R., Boutin, S., 2018. A methodology for architecting collaborative product service system of systems. In: 2018 13th Annual Conference on System of Systems Engineering (SoSE). IEEE, pp. 53–59. https://doi.org/10.1109/ SYSOSE.2018.8428697.
- Holgado, M., Corti, D., Macchi, M., Rana, P., Short, S., Evans, E., 2013. Business modelling for sustainable manufacturing. In: Emmanouilidis, C., Taisch, M., Kiritsis, D. (Eds.), 19th Advances in Production Management Systems (APMS). Springer, Rhodes, Greece, pp. 166–174. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-40352-1_22.
- de Jong, E., Engelaer, F., Morice, M., 2015. Realizing opportunities of a circular business model. http://images.info.yoursolutionspartner.com/ Web/servicedllgroupcom/%7Bee927947-b65e-4360-a153-79b0f9ed68d7%7D_ Whitepaper_-_Realizing_opportunities_of_a_circular_business_model.pdf? elqaid=71&elqat=2&elqTrackId=2f5d60d79e744ee599ecea50b13497e9. (Accessed 1 July 2017).
- Joustra, D.J., de Jong, E., Engelaer, F., 2013. Guided Choices towards a Circular Business Model. Project C2C Bizz. Available at. http://www.c2cbizz.com/tools/ c2c-bizz-guide-en.pdf%0A. (Accessed 30 July 2017). http://www.c2cbizz.com/ tools/c2c-bizz-guide-en.pdf%0A.
- Kjaer, L.L., Pigosso, D.C.A., Niero, M., Bech, N.M., McAloone, T.C., 2018. Product/ service-systems for a circular economy: the route to decoupling economic growth from resource consumption?, 0 J. Ind. Ecol. 1–14. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/jiec.12747, 0.

Kraaijenhagen, C., Van Open, C., Bocken, N., 2016. Circular Business Collaborate and Circulate. Circular Collaboration, The Netherlands.

- Kristensen, H.S., Remmen, A., 2019. A framework for sustainable value propositions in product-service systems. J. Clean. Prod. 223, 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jclepro.2019.03.074.
- Kumar, A., Zope, N.R., Lokku, D.S., 2014. An approach for services design by understanding value requirements, identifying value carriers, developing value proposition, and subsequently realizing value. In: Annual SRII Global Conference, SRII, pp. 298–304. https://doi.org/10.1109/SRII.2014.51.
- Lange, V.G., Velamuri, V.K., 2014. Business model innovation in the retail industry: growth by serving the silver generation Veit Gregor Lange. Int. J. Enterpren. Innovat. Manag. 18 (4), 310–329.
- Laurischkat, K., Viertelhausen, A., 2017. Business model gaming: a game-based methodology for E-mobility business model innovation. Procedia CIRP 64, 115–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2017.03.051. The Author(s),.
- Leitão, A., Cunha, P., Valente, F., Marques, P., 2013. Roadmap for business models definition in manufacturing companies. Procedia CIRP 7, 383–388. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2013.06.003.
- Lieder, M., Asif, F.M.A., Rashid, A., Mihelič, A., Kotnik, S., 2018. A conjoint analysis of circular economy value propositions for consumers: using "washing machines in Stockholm" as a case study. J. Clean. Prod. 172, 264–273. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.10.147.
- Lieder, M., Asif, F.M.A., Rashid, A., 2017. Towards Circular Economy implementation:

an agent-based simulation approach for business model changes. Aut. Agents Multi-Agent Syst. 31 (6), 1377–1402. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10458-017-9365-9. Springer US.

- Lieder, M., Rashid, A., 2016. Towards circular economy implementation: a comprehensive review in context of manufacturing industry. J. Clean. Prod. 115, 36-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.12.042.
- Lüdeke-Freund, F., Gold, S., Bocken, N.M.P., 2018. A review and typology of circular economy business model patterns, 0 J. Ind. Ecol. 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ijec 12763 0
- Manninen, K., Koskela, S., Antikainen, R., Bocken, N., Dahlbo, H., Aminoff, A., 2018. Do circular economy business models capture intended environmental value propositions? J. Clean. Prod. 171, 413–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/ .jclepro.2017.10.003.
- Marilungo, E., Peruzzini, M., Germani, M., 2015. An integrated method to support PSS design within the Virtual Enterprise. Procedia CIRP 30, 54–59. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2015.02.021.
- Massa, L., Tucci, L.C., 2013. Business model innovation. In: The Oxford Handbook of 420 - 441. Innovation Management, pp. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9781118466421.ch4
- Matschewsky, J., 2019. Unintended circularity?-Assessing a product-service system for its potential contribution to a circular economy. Sustainability 11 (2725). 1-27. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11102725.
- McAloone, T.C., Pigosso, D.C.A., 2018. Designing product service systems for a circular economy. In: Charter, M. (Ed.), Designing for the Circular Economy. Routledge, pp. 102–112. Mendoza, J.M.F., Sharmina, M., Gallego-Schmid, A., Heyes, G., Azapagic, A., 2017.
- Integrating backcasting and eco-design for the circular economy: the BECE framework. J. Ind. Ecol. 21 (3), 526-544. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12590.
- Mentink, B., 2014. Circular Business Model Innovation: A Process Framework and a Tool for Business Model Innovation in a Circular Economy. Delft University of Technology. Deft University of Technology & Leiden University. Available at. http://repository.tudelft.nl/assets/uuid:c2554c91-8aaf-4fdd-91b7-4ca08e8ea621/THESIS_REPORT_FINAL_Bas_Mentink.pdf.
- Nußholz, J., 2017. Circular business models: defining a concept and framing an emerging research field. Sustainability 9 (10), 1810. https://doi.org/10.3390/ su9101810
- Nußholz, J.L.K., 2018. A circular business model mapping tool for creating value from prolonged product lifetime and closed material loops. J. Clean. Prod. 197, 185-194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.06.112.
- Osterwalder, A., Pigneur, Y., Smith, A., Bernarda, G., Papadakos, P., 2014. Value Proposition Design. Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.
- Peruzzini, M., Marilungo, E., Germani, M., 2015. Technical-business design methodology for PSS. In: Al, R.C., et al. (Eds.), Advances in Transdisciplinary Engineering, pp. 513-522. https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-544-9-513.
- Pezzotta, G., Pinto, R., Pirola, F., Ouertani, M., 2014. Balancing product-service provider's performance and customer's value: the Service Engineering Methodology (SEEM). Procedia CIRP 16, 50-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.procir.2014.01.008.
- Pezzotta, G., Pirola, F., Rondini, A., Pinto, R., Ouertani, M., 2016. Towards a methodology to engineer industrial product-service system - evidence from power and automation industry. CIRP J. Manuf. Sci. Technol. 15, 19-32. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cirpj.2016.04.006.
- Pieroni, M.P., Blomsma, F., McAloone, T.C., Pigosso, D.C.A., 2018b. Enabling circular strategies with different types of product/service-systems. Procedia CIRP 73, 179-184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2018.03.327
- Pieroni, M., Marques, C., Campese, C., Guzzo, D., Mendes, G., Costa, J., Rosa, M., Oliveira, M., Macul, V., Rozenfeld, H., 2016. Transforming a traditional product offer into PSS: a practical application. Procedia CIRP 47, 412-417. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2016.03.036
- Pieroni, M.P.P., McAloone, T.C., Pigosso, D.C.A., 2019b. Business model innovation for circular economy and sustainability: a review of approaches. J. Clean. Prod. 215, 198-216. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2019.01.036.
- Pieroni, M.P.P., McAloone, T.C., Pigosso, D.C.A., 2019a. Configuring new business models for circular economy through product - service systems. Sustainability 11 (3727), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11133727.
- Pieroni, M.P., Pigosso, D.C.A., McAloone, T.C., 2018a. Sustainable qualifying criteria for designing circular business models. Procedia CIRP 69, 799-804. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2017.11.014.
- Pigosso, D.C.A., Mcaloone, T.C., 2015. Supporting the development of environmentally sustainable PSS by means of the Ecodesign Maturity Model. Procedia CIRP 30, 173-178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2015.02.091.
- Pigosso, D.C.A., Rozenfeld, H., Seliger, G., 2011. Ecodesign Maturity Model: criteria for methods and tools classification. In: Seliger, G., Khraisheh, M.M.K., Jawahir, I.S. (Eds.), Advances in Sustainable Manufacturing. Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 241-245. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-20183-7.
- Planing, P., 2018. Towards a circular economy how business model innovation will help to make the shift. Int. J. Bus. Glob. 20 (1), 71. https://doi.org/10.1504/ IIBG.2018.088665.
- Pohlmann, A., Kaartemo, V., 2017. Research trajectories of Service-Dominant Logic: emergent themes of a unifying paradigm in business and management. Ind. Market. Manag. 63, 53-68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.01.001.
- Pokorná, J., Pilař, L., Balcarová, T., Sergeeva, I., 2015. Value proposition canvas: identification of pains, gains and customer jobs at farmers' markets. Agris online in Econ. Inform. VII (4), 123-130.

Prendeville, S., Bocken, N., 2017. Sustainable business models through service

292–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/ design. Procedia Manufact. 8. j.promfg.2017.02.037. October 2016.

- Quero, M.J., Ventura, R., 2018. Value proposition as a framework for value cocreation in crowdfunding ecosystems. Market. Theor. 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1470593118772213.
- Rabetino, R., Harmsen, W., Kohtamäki, M., Sihvonen, J., 2018. Structuring servitization-related research. Int. J. Oper. Prod. Manag. 38 (2), 350–371. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-03-2017-0175.
- Rau, C., Zbiek, A., Jonas, J.M., 2017. Creating competitive advantage from services creating competitive advantage from services A design thinking case study from the commodities industry. Res. Technol. Manag. 60 (3), 48–56. https:// doi.org/10.1080/08956308.2017.1301003.
- Reigado, C.R., Fernandes, S.C., Saavedra, Y.M.B., Ometto, A.R., Costa, J.M.H., 2017. A circular economy toolkit as an alternative to improve the application of PSS methodologies. Procedia CIRP. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2017.03.034. Resta, B., Gaiardelli, P., Cavalieri, S., Dotti, S., 2017. Enhancing the design and
- management of the product-service system supply chain: an application to the automotive sector. Serv. Sci. 9 (4), 302-314. https://doi.org/10.1287/ serv.2017.0193.
- Riedel, J., Hauge, J.B., 2011. State of the art of serious games for business and industry. In: 17th International Conference on Concurrent Enterprising. pp. 1–8.
- Rozenfeld, H., Rosa, M., Fernandes, S.C., 2018. Servitization methodology: PSS design, change management or business model innovation? In: Schützer, Klaus (Ed.), Proceedings of the 23rd International Seminar on High Technology. Piracicaba: UNIMEP, pp. 91–116. Schneider, K., Scheer, A.W., 2003. Konzept zur systematischen und kundenor-
- ientierten Entwicklung von Dienstleistungen. Universitat des Saarlandes.
- Shirahada, K., Belal, H.M., Takahashi, N., 2015. Technology in Society Development of technology and service thinking for technical personnel : action research at a Japanese monitor maker. Technol. Soc. 43, 191-198. https://doi.org/10.1016/ i techsoc 2015 05 005
- Short, S.W., Rana, P., Bocken, N.M.P., Evans, S., 2013. Advances in production management systems. Competitive manufacturing for innovative products and services. In: Emmanouilidis, C., Taisch, M., Kiritsis, D. (Eds.), Advances in Production Management Systems. Competitive Manufacturing for Innovative Products and Services. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg (IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology). https://doi.org/ 10 1007/978-3-642-40352-1
- Sustainn, 2017. Circularity Canvas: Methodology to Outline Circular Business Models. (accessed. http://www.wearesustainn.com/en/2017/03/circularitycanvas-methodology-circular-business-models/. (Accessed 30 June 2018).
- Teece, D.J., 2010. Business models, business strategy and innovation. Long. Range Plan. 43 (2-3), 172-194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2009.07.003.
- Teixeira, J.G., Patrício, L., Huang, K., Fisk, R., Nóbrega, L., Constantine, L., 2017. The MINDS method: integrating management and interaction design perspectives for service design. J. Serv. Res. 20 (3), 240-258. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1094670516680033.
- Tranfield, D., Denyer, D., Smart, P., 2003. Towards a methodology for developing evidence-informed management knowledge by means of systematic review * Br. J. Manag. 14, 207-222. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.00375
- Tukker, A., 2004. Eight types of product-service system: eight ways for sustainability? Experiences from SUSPRONET. Bus. Strat. Environ. 13, 246-260. https:// doi.org/10.1002/bse.414.
- Tukker, A., 2015. Product services for a resource-efficient and circular economy a review. J. Clean. Prod. 97, 76-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.11.049.
- Ünal, E., Urbinati, A., Chiaroni, D., 2019. Managerial practices for designing circular economy business models the case of an Italian SME in the. https://doi.org/ 10.1108/JMTM-02-2018-0061.
- Urbinati, A., Cattaneo, L.U., Ünal, E., 2018. Framing the managerial practices for circular economy business Models : a case study analysis. In: 2018 IEEE International Conference on Environment and Electrical Engineering and 2018 IEEE Industrial and Commercial Power Systems Europe (EEEIC/I&CPS Europe). IEEE, pp. 1–7.
- Urbinati, A., Chiaroni, D., Chiesa, V., 2017. Towards a new taxonomy of circular economy business models. J. Clean. Prod. 168, 487-498. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jclepro.2017.09.047.
- Vasantha, G.V.A., Roy, R., Corney, J.R., 2015. Advances in designing product-service systems. J. Indian Inst. Sci. 95 (4), 429-447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-015-9723-1.
- Wang, P.P., Ming, X.G., Zheng, M.K., 2015. A framework of value creation for industrial product-service. In: Bouras, A., et al. (Eds.), Product Lifecycle Management in the Era of Internet of Things. Springer, Doha, Qatar, pp. 311-320. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-33111-9.
- Webster, J., Watson, R.T., 2002. Analyzing the past to prepare for the future: writing a literature review. MIS Q. 26 (2).
- Weetman, C., 2016. A Circular Economy Handbook for Business and Supply Chains: Repair, Remake, Redesign, Rethink. Kogan Page Publishers, New York.
- West, S., Di, S., 2016. Creating product-service system opportunities for small and medium size firms using service design tools. Procedia CIRP 47, 96–101. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2016.03.218. The Author(s).
- Yang, M., Vladimirova, D., Rana, P., Evans, S., 2014. Sustainable value analysis tool for value creation. Asia J. Manag. Sci. App. 1 (4), 312-332.
- Yang, M., Smart, P., Kumar, M., Jolly, M., Evans, S., 2018. Product-service systems business models for circular supply chains. Prod. Plann. Contr. 29 (6), 498–508. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2018.1449247.

- Yang, M., Vladimirova, D., Evans, S., 2017. Creating and capturing value through sustainability. Res. Technol. Manag. 603 (3), 30–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 08956308.2017.1301001. Taylor & Francis.
- Wildevuur, S., van Dijk, D., Hammer-Jakobson, T., Bjerre, M., Äyväri, A., Lund, J.,
- et al., 2014. Connect: Design for an Empathic Society. BIS Publishers. Yang, M.Y., Rana, P., Evans, S., 2013. Product service system (PSS) life cycle value analysis for sustainability. In: Proceedings of the 6th Conference on Design and

- Manufacture for Sustainable Development. Hangzhou. Yu, E., Sangiorgi, D., 2018. Service design as an approach to implement the value correction perspective in new service development. J. Serv. Res. 21 (1), 40–58. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094670517709356.
- Zott, C., Amit, R., Massa, L., 2011. The business Model : recent developments and future research. J. Manag. 37 (4), 1019–1042. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0149206311406265.